1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

2 CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL
3 DISTRICT,

4 Appellant.

5 vs.

6 LAS VEGAS REVIEW-JOURNAL,

7 Respondent.
8
9

Supreme Court No. 73525

District Court No. A750151

District Court Dept. No. XVI

Electronically Filed
Dec 11 2017 02:11 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

10
11
12
13
14 **APELLANT’S OPENING BRIEF**

15
16 Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Order Granting
17 Writ of Mandamus as to Withheld Records
18 and Requiring Depositions
19
20

21 Carlos McDade, Nevada State Bar No. 11205
22 Adam Honey, Nevada State Bar No. 9588
23 Clark County School District
24 Office of General Counsel

- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 10
- 11
- 12
- 13
- 14
- 15
- 16
- 17
- 18
- 19
- 20
- 21
- 22
- 23
- 24
- 25
- 26
- 27
- 28

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13

14

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

1 discriminatory conduct by a school board trustee against CCSD employees
2 must be disclosed pursuant to a public records request under NRS Chapter
3 239. Appellant App. pp. 300 at ¶88.

4
5 This matter involves important public policy concerns regarding the
6 right of public employees to raise concerns of all forms of discriminatory¹
7 conduct without the loss of confidentiality and with it fear of retaliation from
8 the subject of the complaint. These issues are presented in the context of a
9 public records request made to CCSD by the Las Vegas Review-Journal,
10 (hereinafter “LVRJ”).
11
12

13 **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- 14 1) Whether the district court erred in holding that the investigative
15 materials of CCSD’s ODAA related to the investigation of Trustee
16 Kevin Child should be disclosed under the Nevada Public Records
17 Law when the documents in the file are confidential and/or privileged.
18
19
20

21 ¹ Per the appealed Order, it appears the district court’s position is that
22 discrimination is separate and distinct from harassment and sexual
23 harassment rather than the umbrella under which all forms of discrimination
24 fall. Appellant’s App. pp. 296 at ¶72. And therefore all the investigative
25 materials must be produced under CCSD Regulation 4110(X) as the same is
26 inapplicable because it only applies to discrimination but not harassment or
27 sexual harassment. Id. The district court’s interpretation of discrimination
28 is inconsistent with the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission,
which lists twelve (12) distinct types of discrimination including harassment
and sexual harassment. <https://www.eeoc.gov/laws/types/>

1 2) Whether the district court erred in holding that only the names of
2 “direct victims of sexual harassment or alleged sexual harassment,
3 students, and support staff” may be redacted from the investigative
4 file of CCSD’s ODAA related to the investigation of Trustee Kevin
5 Child. Appellant’s App. p. 300 at ¶88.
6

7
8 3) Whether the district court erred when it ordered the release of CCSD’s
9 ODAA file related to the investigation of Trustee Kevin Child,
10 thereby stripping employees of confidentiality afforded to other
11 similarly situated government employees and exposing CCSD
12 employees to potential retaliatory action or contravention of the law
13 including agency guidance issued by the U.S. Equal Employment
14 Opportunity Commission.
15
16

17 **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

18 **A. Nature of the case**

19
20 This is an appeal from a decision by Eighth Judicial District Court,
21 Judge Timothy C. Williams presiding, ruling on an amended petition for writ
22 of mandamus and directing CCSD to provide the entire investigative file and
23 memoranda and recommendations from CCSD’s ODAA regarding
24 allegations of discriminatory conduct by school board trustee Kevin Child.
25
26

27 **B. Course of Proceedings**

1 This matter arose under an amended petition for writ of mandamus
2 under the Nevada Public Records Law, Chapter 239 of the Nevada Revised
3 Statutes. No discovery was undertaken; rather the matter was tried on briefs
4 and oral arguments of the parties.² The district court also reviewed the
5 investigative file and memoranda and recommendations at issue *in camera*.³
6 Upon filing of the Notice of Entry of Order on July 12, 2017, CCSD filed its
7 appeal of the Order dated July 11, 2017. Appellant's App. pp. 283-302.
8

9 **C. Disposition Below**

10 At the hearing on June 27, 2017, the relevant issue as to the instant
11 appeal was LVRJ's request for the investigative file and memoranda and
12 recommendations of the ODAA relative to complaints about Trustee Kevin
13 Child.⁴
14

15 On July 11, 2017, the Honorable Timothy C. Williams, District Judge,
16 filed an Order Granting Writ of Mandamus as to Withheld Records.
17 Appellant's App. pp. 286-302. CCSD is appealing the July 11, 2017, Order
18 that requires disclosure of the "withheld documents" which consist of the
19

20 ² There were two depositions conducted 2. 5 months after the Order
21 appealed was issued relative to how electronic searches were performed
22 rather than the issue at bar in this appeal, which is the investigatory
23 materials.

24 ³ The ODAA investigative file, memoranda and recommendations at issue
25 are available upon request for in camera review by the Nevada Supreme
26 Court.
27
28

1 investigative file and two (2) memoranda and recommendations dated
2 October 19, 2016 and May 26, 2017⁵ prepared by CCSD's ODAA.

3 Appellant's App. p. 300 at ¶88.

4
5 The Order allows for limited redacting to include direct victims of
6 sexual harassment or alleged sexual harassment, students and support staff,
7 only. Id. Victims and witnesses of all other forms of discrimination are not
8 provided any protections whatsoever. Id.

9
10 In particular, the District Court's Order requires the release of notes
11 and the "Key" to employee names and memoranda and recommendations
12 including multiple drafts of the memoranda prepared by CCSD's ODAA.

13 The documents ordered to be released breakdown as follows:

- 14
15
16 1) The notes include handwritten notes dated from September
17 7, 2016 – January 26, 2017, which identify nineteen (19)
18 people by name of which only four (4) names would be
19 redacted under the terms of the district court Order;
20
21 2) Typed notes dated from January 28, 2016 through October
22 4, 2016, and identifies twenty-three (23) employees by
23
24

25
26 ⁵ Multiple drafts of the investigative reports are contained in the ODAA file
27 including handwritten comments by CCSD counsel all of which has been
28 ordered to be disclosed by the district court.

1 letters of which only four (4) of the employees would
2 qualify for redaction of their names;

3 3) Additional typed notes titled, “Case Notes – Confidential”
4 dated from January 28, 2016 through May 25, 2017. These
5 notes identify employees using letters A-Z and AA-CC. Per
6 the terms of the twenty-nine (29) names only eight (8)
7 would be redacted;

8 4) A single page “Key” is used by ODAA on the typed notes
9 and “Confidential Notes” using letters to identify the
10 employees and protect confidentiality;⁶

11 5) Memoranda and recommendations dated October 19, 2016⁷
12 and May 26, 2017, including four (4) drafts;

13 6) Complaint of harassment against Trustee Child dated May 5,
14 2017 and typed notes from complainant dated May 22,
15 2017; and

16
17
18
19
20
21 ⁶ The district court has ordered that the “Key” be produced subject to the
22 limited redactions. The key identifies twenty-nine (29) employees yet only
23 eight (8) qualify for the district court’s redacting as support staff members or
24 direct victims of sexual harassment or alleged sexual harassment.
25 Additionally, the handwritten notes include ten (10) names not included in
26 the “Key” whose identities may not be redacted under the district court
27 Order. In total the investigative materials include thirty-nine (39) names of
28 which only nine (9) are allowed to be redacted.

⁷ LVRJ published the October 19, 2016, report and recommendations online
on December 23, 2016. Appellant’s App. pp. 48-56.

1 7) Employee typed notes of alleged discriminatory conduct of
2 Trustee Child during school visits dated September 20, 2014
3 through April 14, 2017.
4

5 **D. Statement of Facts**
6

7 On December 5, 2016, LVRJ published its first article relative to the
8 allegations of Trustee Child's conduct and CCSD's response titled, "CCSD
9 bars Trustee Child from making school visits," Appellant's App. pp. 328-
10 331.⁸ This same article, in its electronic version, included the memo from
11

12
13 ⁸ This Court may take judicial notice of newspaper articles published by
14 LVRJ regarding Mr. Child's alleged misconduct within CCSD and the steps
15 taken by CCSD to protect its employees for the limited purpose of what the
16 articles contain (but not for determining the truth of those articles) pursuant
17 to NRS 47.130 and case law. Appellant's App. at pp. 328-374, published
18 news article. Courts may take judicial notice of publications introduced to
19 "indicate what was in the public realm at the time, not whether the contents
20 of those articles were in fact true." *Von Saher v. Norton Simon Museum of*
21 *Art at Pasadena*, 592 F.3d 954, 960 (9th Cir. Cal. Jan. 14, 2010) citing
22 *Premier Growth Fund v. Alliance Capital Mgmt.*, 435 F.3d 396, 401 n.15
23 (3d Cir. 2001); accord *Heliotrope Gen. Inc. v. Ford Motor Co.*, 189 F.3d
24 971, 981 n.1 18 (9th Cir. 1999) (taking judicial notice "that the market was
25 aware of the information contained in news articles submitted by the
26 defendants.") "And courts may take judicial notice of documents such as the
27 newspaper articles at issue here for the limited purpose of determining which
28 statements the documents contain (but not for determining the truth of those

1 Superintendent Pat Skorkowsky also dated December 5, 2016, with the
2 subject, “Guidelines for Trustee Visits.” Appellant’s App. at p. 329.
3

4 Also, on December 5, 2016, LVRJ submitted an initial request for
5 public records (which was supplemented on December 9). Appellant’s App.
6 pp. 58 & 60. The district court Order dated February 22, 2017, relative to the
7 December 2016, record requests are not under appeal. CCSD produced
8 responsive documents on its own accord and also in compliance with the
9 district court’s Order.
10

11 On or about December 23, 2016, LVRJ obtained the “four-page report
12 dated Oct. 19”, which is the memorandum and recommendations prepared by
13 CCSD’s ODAA that LVRJ would later request again as part of its February
14 10, 2017, public records request related to Trustee Child. Appellant’s App.
15 pp. 48-56 & 62-65. LVRJ published the October 19, 2016, memo online on
16 December 23, 2016, as well. Appellant’s App. at 48-56.
17
18
19
20
21
22

23 statements).” *United States ex rel. Osheroff v. Humana, Inc.*, 776 F.3d 805,
24 812 (11th Cir. Fla. Jan. 16, 2015) citing *Bryant v. Avado Brands, Inc.*, 187
25 F.3d 1271, 1278 n. 10 (11th Cir. Ga. Sept. 3, 1999). Additionally, LVRJ
26 made articles published on December 23, 2016 and May 23-25, 2017, part of
27 the court record in district court.
28

1 On February 10, 2017, LVRJ submitted a new detailed NPRA request,
2 which included a request for the investigative file at issue in the instant
3 appeal. Appellant's App. pp. 62-65.
4

5 In the February records request, LVRJ formally requested the entire
6 investigative file at issue in this case including the four-page report dated Oct.
7 19 they already were in possession of. Appellant's App. pp. 53-56 & 62-65.
8 The February request was in excess of three (3) pages long and contained 15
9 distinct categories of records regarding Trustee Child in addition to
10 investigatory materials of all types. Appellant's App. pp. 62-65.
11
12

13 On February 17, 2017, CCSD replied to LVRJ's February 10 NPRA
14 request stating additional time was necessary to locate records and a reply was
15 anticipated by March 3. Appellant's App. pp. 67-69. The February 17
16 response was on the 5th business day as mandated by NRS 239.0107(1).
17

18 LVRJ filed its Amended Application on March 1, 2017. Appellant's
19 App. pp. 1-20.
20

21 On March 3, 2017, as indicated in the February 17 correspondence,
22 CCSD produced records responsive to the February 10 NPRA request and
23 included specific objections and privileges. Appellant's App. pp. 102-104.
24

25 LVRJ filed its Opening Brief on its Writ of Mandamus in District
26 Court on March 29, 2017. Appellant's App. pp. 21-69. CCSD filed its
27
28

1 Answering Brief on April 13, 2017, and the Reply Brief was filed by LVRJ on
2 April 24, 2017. Appellant's App. pp. 70-143.

3
4 On May 30, 2017, CCSD produced an updated privilege log to
5 chambers per the District Court's directive in open court on May 9, 2017.
6 Appellant's App. pp. 174-184.

7
8 On June 5, 2017, the District Court issued an Order directing an
9 updated privilege log be produced to both the District Court and LVRJ by
10 May 30, 2017. Appellant's App. at 144-154.

11
12 CCSD provided LVRJ the privilege log previously provided to
13 chambers on June 6, 2017.

14 On June 16, 2017, CCSD provided LVRJ a letter dated May 31, 2017,
15 from Superintendent Pat Skorkowsky to Trustee Child, which reiterated prior
16 guidelines and contains additional directives to the trustee. Appellant's App.
17 p. 187 at 3:19-23 & Appellant's App. pp. 326-327.

18
19 On June 26, 2017, CCSD provide LVRJ two (2) additional letters
20 dated November 30, 2016 and April 24, 2017, from Superintendent Pat
21 Skorkowsky to Trustee Child addressing the trustee's conduct. Appellant's
22 App. p. 187 at 3:23-4:11 & Appellant's App. pp. 322-323 & 325.

23
24 On June 27, 2017, oral arguments were heard before District Court
25 Judge Timothy C. Williams. Appellant's App. pp. 185-282.
26
27
28

1 Judge Williams issued an Order following the June 27th hearing on
2 July 11, 2017, which is now under appeal before this Court. Appellant's App.
3 pp. 283-304.
4

5 **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

6 A writ petition arising from a public records request is generally
7 reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Las Vegas Taxpayer Comm. v. City*
8 *Council*, 125 Nev. 165, 208 P.3d 429, 433-34 (2009); see also *Veil v Bennett*,
9 121 Nev. Adv. Op. 22, 348 P.3d 684, 686 (2015). Nonetheless, this Court
10 reviews the district court's decision de novo when the subject of the appeal on
11 the writ petition when the issue is one of statutory construction. *Las Vegas*
12 *Metro. Police Dep't v. Blackjack Bonding, Inc.*, 131 Nev. ___, 343 P.3d 608
13 (Nev. 2015); see also *State v. Barren*, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 31, 279 P.3d 182,
14 184 (2012).
15
16
17

18 **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

19 This Court should reverse the district court's Order to turn over the
20 investigative material produced by the ODAA under any one or combination
21 of the following basis:
22

- 23 1) CCSD has a duty under federal law to investigate allegations of
24 discrimination and federal guidelines and case law support
25 maintaining confidentiality for various reasons including to not
26
27
28

1 produce a chilling effect on future reporting of discrimination by
2 employees and avoiding stigma and embarrassment to witnesses
3 and victims;
4

5 2) Under CCSD Regulation 4110(X) investigations of discrimination
6 shall remain confidential but for limited exceptions that do not
7 apply under the facts of this case;
8

9 3) The investigative file should remain confidential under CCSD
10 Regulations 1212 and 4311 as personnel information, which would
11 be consistent with how the same information would be handled for
12 State employees under NAC 284.718(5) and the “unless otherwise
13 confidential by law” portion of NRS 239.010(1);
14

15 4) The investigative file and reports compiled by the ODAA are
16 confidential under the deliberative process privilege because the
17 recommendations and opinions of the ODAA were predecisional
18 and deliberative while serving as the basis of later policies
19 regarding Trustee Child’s visits to schools and administrative
20 offices. Furthermore, the file itself is intertwined with the final
21 reports to such an extent to disclose either the file or the reports but
22 not the other has the effect of in essence disclosing both;
23
24
25
26
27
28

- 1 5) Even if this Court determined the final memoranda, only, were
2 protected under the deliberative process privilege, the investigative
3 file created by the ODAA should remain confidential as non-
4 record materials under NAC 239.051 and NAC 239.705 because
5 they “do not serve as the record of an official action of a local
6 government entity.” NAC 239.051;
7
8
9 6) The investigative file and reports should remain confidential under
10 the *Donrey* balancing test because the concerns are particularized
11 rather than hypothetical and the interests of non-disclosure
12 outweigh the general policy in favor of open government. This is
13 particularly true in the case where the LVRJ has already reported
14 extensively on the alleged misconduct of Trustee Child and the
15 potential damage to employees and CCSD is great. *Donrey of*
16 *Nevada, Inc. v Bradshaw*, 106 Nev. 630, 798 P.2d 144 (1990); and
17
18
19 7) Alternatively, even if this Court were to rule disclosure is required,
20 it should be done in a manner consistent with prior precedent that
21 would allow for disclosure of the final memoranda, only.
22
23 Additionally, redactions should be allowed for all information that
24 identifies complainants and witnesses so as to ensure future
25
26
27
28

1 reporting of misconduct in order to protect employees from
2 retaliation, stigma and embarrassment.
3

4 **ARGUMENT**

5 This matter involves important public policy concerns regarding the
6 right of public employees to raise concerns of all forms of discrimination⁹
7 including harassment and sexual harassment without the loss of
8 confidentiality and the resultant chilling effect. These issues are presented
9 in the context of a public records request made to CCSD by the Las Vegas
10 Review-Journal (“LVRJ”) under the provisions of NRS Chapter 239.
11

12 On July 11, 2017, the district court filed an Order Granting Writ of
13 Mandamus as to Withheld Records. Appellant’s App. pp. 283-302. In its
14 Order, the district court directed CCSD to produce “withheld documents”,
15 which consist of the entire investigative file and memoranda and
16 recommendations¹⁰ and stated: “CCSD may redact the names of direct
17 victims of sexual harassment or alleged sexual harassment, students, and
18 support staff.” Appellant’s App. pp. 300 at ¶ 88 (emphasis added). Pursuant
19
20
21
22

23
24 ⁹ See <https://www.eeoc.gov/laws/types/> for list of categories of
discrimination.

25 ¹⁰ The preceding is an important distinction between the matter at bar and
26 cases such as *Donrey* because unlike *Donrey* in this case LVRJ sought and
27 the district court ordered release of the entire investigative file rather than
28 memoranda and recommendations, only.

1 to a February 22, 2017 Order: “CCSD may not make any other redactions,
2 and must unredact the names of schools, all administrative level employees,
3 including but not limited to deans, principals, assistant principals, program
4 coordinators, and teachers.” Appellant’s App. p. 8 at ¶ 35.

6 If upheld, the district court’s Order will result in the release of the
7 identity of CCSD employees who were victims or witnesses to allegedly
8 discriminatory conduct including any teacher, principal, counselor, dean, or
9 district administrator unless they were direct victims of sexual harassment or
10 alleged sexual harassment. The district court’s decision is contrary to the
11 guidelines of the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, CCSD
12 regulations 4110 (X), 1212 and 4311, the deliberative process privilege, non-
13 record materials as defined by NAC 239.051 and NAC 239.705 and the
14 *Donrey* balancing test and will result in CCSD employees being chilled from
15 future reporting of alleged discrimination, which will promote the
16 continuation of discriminatory conduct.

21 **A. The investigative file should remain confidential due to**
22 **CCSD’s obligation under federal law to investigate and protect**
23 **employees with regard to unlawful discrimination and**
24 **harassment**

25 It is an unlawful employment practice for an employer to
26 discriminate against an individual with regard to the terms and conditions of
27 that employment on the basis of the employee's race, color, religion, sex, or
28

1 national origin. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1). In *Meritor Savings Bank v.*
2 *Vinson*, 477 U.S. 57 (1986), the Supreme Court held that sexual
3 harassment constitutes sex discrimination in violation of Title VII.
4
5 Courts have recognized different forms of sexual harassment. In “hostile
6 work environment” cases, employees work in offensive or abusive
7 environments. *Ellison v. Brady*, 924 F.2d 872, 875 (9th Cir. 1991). “[A]
8 hostile environment exists when an employee can show (1) that he or she was
9 subjected to sexual advances, requests for sexual favors, or other verbal or
10 physical conduct of a sexual nature, (2) that this conduct was unwelcome, and
11 (3) that the conduct was sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the conditions
12 of the victim’s employment and create an abusive working environment.” *Id.*
13 at 875-76.

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