IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT Appellant,

vs.

THE LAS VEGAS REVIEW-JOURNAL, Electronically Filed Jan 25 2018 09:44 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CASE NO.: 73525

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Timothy C. Williams, District Judge District Court Case No. A-17-750151-W

Margaret A. McLetchie, Nevada Bar No. 10931 Alina M. Shell, Nevada Bar No. 11711 MCLETCHIE SHELL LLC 701 East Bridger Ave., Suite 520 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 *Counsel for Respondent, Las Vegas Review-Journal*

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Review-Journal has been fighting for access to records regarding alleged harassment and other serious misconduct by CCSD Trustee Kevin Child pursuant to the Nevada Public Records Act ("NPRA"), Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.001 *et seq.*, since

³ In its motion to this Court, CCSD specified that it was appealing only the portion of the district court's order "that requires disclosure of the 'withheld documents' which consist of the investigative file of CCSD's Office of Diversity and Affirmative Action regarding its investigation of alleged discrimination of [sic] CCSD employees by Trustee Kevin Child." (Doc. No. 17-24906, p. 4.)

December 2016. In contravention of the NPRA, CCSD has delayed and resisted disclosure at every step of the way.

The public has a vital interest in governmental records. Understanding the exact facts and circumstances of alleged misconduct of officials—and the responses to that misconduct—is vital to building public confidence in the institutions and governmental bodies that make decisions that affect the public. Transparency is especially important in this case. While CCSD is responsible for preventing harassment of employees by employee supervisors, Kevin Child is not an employee and does not supervise employees. Nor can CCSD fire him. Only the voters can, and they are entitled to know what the facts are. Further, consistent with the democratic principles underlying the NPRA, the public is not required to blindly trust that CCSD engaged in an adequate investigation, that CCSD adequately protects staff or, most importantly, that CCSD adequately protects students from inappropriate behavior, including sexual misconduct.

Without any citation to evidence supporting its claims, CCSD takes an everything-but-the-kitchen-sink approach and relies on inapplicable claims of confidentiality. For example, it relies on an inapplicable administrative code prevision that pertains to record destruction schedules, as well as inapplicable and nonbinding internal CCSD regulations. It also relies on—again, without evidence—the contention that great harm will come to pass if they release records pertaining to

the investigation of Kevin Child, even though CCSD admits that much of the information is already in the public domain. CCSD's efforts to avoid transparency fail. The District Court properly applied the terms of the NPRA and this Court's precedent in ordering production of the records, subject to appropriate redactions. CCSD should be required to produce the records without delay—particularly in light of the history of this case.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Legal Standard

1. CCSD Bears a Heavy Burden.

CCSD bears a very heavy burden to establish its entitlement to relief in this appeal. Specifically, CCSD must both: (1) establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the records are confidential; and (2) prove that its "interest in disclosure clearly outweighs the public's interest in access." *Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Gibbons*, 127 Nev. 873, 880, 266 P.3d 623, 628 (2011). In the *Gibbons* case, this Court analyzed the NPRA, surveyed its prior cases, and set forth the applicable steps and burdens a withholding entity must satisfy to withhold records:

First, we begin with the presumption that all government-generated records are open to disclosure. [] The state entity therefore bears the burden of overcoming this presumption by proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the requested records are confidential. [] Next, in the absence of a statutory provision that explicitly declares a record to be confidential, any limitations on disclosure must be based upon a broad balancing of the interests involved, [], and the state entity bears the burden to prove that its interest in nondisclosure clearly outweighs

the public's interest in access. []

Gibbons, 127 Nev. at 880, 266 P.3d at 628 (citations omitted). Thus, as noted above, in addition to first establishing by a preponderance of the evidence that the records are confidential, a governmental entity also bears the burden of establishing that the interest in withholding documents outweighs the interest in disclosure pursuant to the balancing test first articulated in *Donrey of Nevada v. Bradshaw*, 106 Nev. 630, 798 P.2d 144 (1990); *see also DR Partners v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs of Clark Cty.*, 116 Nev. 616, 621, 6 P.3d 465, 468 (2000) ("Unless a statute provides an absolute privilege against disclosure, the burden of establishing the application of a privilege based upon confidentiality can only be satisfied pursuant to a balancing of interests."). This burden is as heavy intentionally heavy because "the provisions of the NPRA place an unmistakable emphasis on disclosure." *Id.* at 882, 629.

2. 2007 Amendments Strengthened the NPRA.

In 2007, the NPRA was amended to strengthen its provisions (the "2007 Amendments"). *Gibbons*, 127 Nev. at 882, 266 P.3d at 628. The purpose of the NPRA is to "foster democratic principles by providing members of the public with access to inspect and copy public books and records to the extent permitted by law[.]" Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.001(1). Importantly, the 2007 Amendments followed the *Donrey* and *DR Partners* decisions relied upon by CCSD throughout its brief, but CCSD entirely ignored them. The 2007 Amendments to the NPRA were

designed to strengthen the law, and made the burden on governmental entities

resisting disclosure heavier. As the *Gibbons* Court explained:

In 2007, in order to better effectuate these purposes, the Legislature amended the NPRA to provide that its provisions must be liberally construed to maximize the public's right of access. NRS 239.001(1)-(2); 2007 Nev. Stat., ch. 435, § 2, at 2061. Conversely, any limitations or restrictions on the public's right of access must be narrowly construed. NRS 239.001(3); 2007 Nev. Stat., ch. 435, § 2, at 2061. In addition, the Legislature amended the NPRA to provide that if a state entity withholds records, it bears the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the records are confidential. NRS 239.0113; 2007 Nev. Stat., ch. 435, § 5, at 2062.

Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Gibbons, 127 Nev. 873, 878, 266 P.3d 623, 626 (2011).

3. The 2007 Amendments Impacted the Balancing Test.

In Reno Newspapers v. Sheriff, this Court detailed exactly how the 2007

Amendments changed the balancing test first set forth in *Donrey* and *DR Partners*:

Prior to the amendment of the Act, this court routinely employed a balancing test when a statute failed to unambiguously declare certain documents to be confidential. Donrey of Nevada v. Bradshaw, 106 Nev. 630, 635–36, 798 P.2d 144, 147–48 (1990). This balancing test equally weighed the general policy in favor of open government against privacy or law enforcement policy justifications for nondisclosure. See id. However, in light of the Legislature's declaration of the rules of construction of the Act-requiring the purpose of the Act to be construed liberally and any restriction to government documents to be construed narrowly-the balancing test under Bradshaw now requires a narrower interpretation of private or government interests promoting confidentiality or nondisclosure to be weighed against the liberal policy for an open and accessible government. See NRS 239.001. We emphasize that the balancing test must be employed in accordance with the underlying policies and rules of construction required by the Nevada Public Records Act. See id.

Reno Newspapers v. Sheriff, 126 Nev. 211, 217–18, 234 P.3d 922, 926 (2010). Thus, instead of the general and broad balancing set forth in *Donrey* and *DR Partners*, the more exacting standard set forth above applies.

4. Hypothetical Concerns Do Not Suffice.

As CCSD acknowledges (OB, p. 44:5-6), a governmental entity cannot rely on conjecture or hypothetical concerns to justify nondisclosure of public records. *DR Partners*, 116 Nev. at 628, 6 P.3d at 472–73 (holding that County cannot meet "its burden by voicing non-particularized hypothetical concerns") (citing *Star Pub. Co. v. Parks*, 178 Ariz. 604, 875 P.2d 837, 838 (1993)); *see also Reno Newspapers v. Sheriff*, 126 Nev. 211, 218, 234 P.3d 922, 927 (2010) ("A mere assertion of possible endangerment does not 'clearly outweigh' the public interest in access to these records.") (quotation omitted).

5. Exceptions Must Be Construed Narrowly.

At every stage of analysis, the NPRA must be construed liberally; government records are presumed public records subject to the act, and any limitation on the public's access to public records must be construed narrowly. Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.001(2)-(3). Privileges and claims of confidentiality must be construed narrowly. *DR Partners*, 116 Nev. at 621, 6 P.3d at 468 ("It is well settled that privileges, whether creatures of statute or the common law, should be interpreted and applied narrowly"); *see also* Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.001(3) (requiring that any limitation on the public's

access to public records "must be construed narrowly"). Further, as set forth above, if a public record contains confidential or privileged information only in part, in response to a request for access to the record, a governmental entity shall redact the confidential information and produce the record in redacted form. Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.010(3).

6. Information in the Public Domain Must Be Disclosed.

Further, CCSD is incorrect that it is absolved of its NPRA obligations if part of what is at issue in an NPRA is publicly available from other sources. In fact, where information is in the public domain, that dissolves any claim of confidentiality. See, e.g., Cottone v. Reno, 193 F.3d 550, 554 (D.C. Cir. 1999) ("Under our publicdomain doctrine, materials normally immunized from disclosure under FOIA lose their protective cloak once disclosed and preserved in a permanent public record.") (citation omitted); In re Search Warrants Issued on June 11, 1988, 15 Media L. Rep. (BNA) 1980, 1982 (D. Minn. 1988) ("The government has no overriding interest in continued sealing of information already in the public domain.") (warrant unsealing case); see also Gambale v. Deutsche Bank AG, 377 F.3d 133, 144, n 11 (2d Cir. 2004) ("Once the cat is out of the bag, the ball game is over.") (citation omitted) (warrant sealing case). Likewise, here, there can be no valid claim under the NPRA that the need for confidentiality outweighs the presumption in favor of access because so much information is already in the public domain.

On a related note, CCSD cannot argue that, because *some* public records are already available, it is not required to produce other records. The NPRA establishes a presumption that *all* records of public agencies are public records, unless expressly declared otherwise. *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.010 (subject to limited exceptions, not applicable in this case, "all public books and public records of a governmental entity [...] may be fully copied[.]". The NPRA's heavy burdens keep custodians from cherry-picking and concealing information from the public without any accountability under the law.

B. Case Law From Other Jurisdictions Supports Disclosure.

While this Court has not addressed this specific issue, other courts have found that records pertaining to school districts' investigations and findings of sexual harassment are public records pursuant to state public records acts. *See, e.g., Marken v. Santa Monica-Malibu Unified Sch. Dist.*, 202 Cal. App. 4th 1250, 136 Cal. Rptr. 3d 395 (Cal. App. 2012) (finding that release of an investigation report and disciplinary record of a sexually harassing teacher was warranted under California's public records act due to the public's right to know, even where an explicit privacy statute was also implicated); *Deseret News Pub. Co. v. Salt Lake County*, 182 P.3d 372, 27 IER Cases 1099 (Utah 2008) (holding that a sexual harassment investigation report should be produced because the report "provides a window ... into the conduct of public officials.").

Marken is particularly instructive here. In that case, a "reverse" public records action, a teacher challenged a school district's planned disclosure concerning an investigation and finding that a teacher violated the district's policy regarding sexual harassment. The documents at issue were remarkably similar to those that CCSD seeks to keep confidential: a report finding sexual harassment and related documents. Specifically, a UCLA professor had requested "copies of all public records ... concerning the investigation of Santa Monica High School teacher Ari Marken and the resulting decision to place him on leave in December 2008 for sexually harassing a thirteen-year-old girl, in violation of [school district policy]." *Id.* at 400. The professor also sought records "regarding any substantial complaints about Marken's improper behavior toward students." *Id.* at 401.

As in this case, the school district in the *Marken* case had found that sexual harassment had occurred and took corrective action. *Id.* at 400-401. The lower court ordered that the records be released, and the teacher appealed. Applying a balancing test similar to this Court's *Donrey* test, the *Marken* court found the public interest in the requested records prevailed:

[R]elease of the investigation report and disciplinary record (redacted as directed by the superior court) is required under the CPRA. Under governing case law, summarized above, the public's interest in disclosure of this information-the public's right to know-outweighs Marken's privacy interest in shielding the information from disclosure.

Id. at 416-417. In this case, just as in Marken, the public interest in disclosure

likewise outweighs any interest in keeping the records secret, and, as discussed below, none of CCSD's arguments against disclosure outweigh the public's interest.

C. CCSD's Privilege Log Does Not Establish How Its Claims of Confidentiality Apply to Each Document it is Withholding.

Pursuant to the NPRA, a governmental entity bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that *each public record or a part thereof is confidential*. Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.0113 (emphasis added); *see also Gibbons*, 127 Nev. at 882, 266 P.3d at 629 ("In harmony with the overarching purposes of the NPRA, the burden of proof is imposed on the state entity to prove that a withheld record is confidential.") This Court has repeatedly emphasized that a governmental entity cannot meet this burden "with a non-particularized showing . . . or by expressing hypothetical concerns. *Gibbons*, 127 Nev. at 880, 266 P.3d at 628 (citing *DR Partners*, 116 Nev. at 627–28, 6 P.3d at 472–73, and *Reno Newspapers v. Sheriff*, 126 Nev. at 219, 234 P.3d at 927).

The facts of *Gibbons* are instructive. In that case, the Reno Gazette-Journal submitted a records request to the State of Nevada for e-mail communications sent over a six-month period between Governor Gibbons and ten individuals. *Gibbons*, 127 Nev. at 876, 266 P.3d at 625. In the event that the State denied the request, the Gazette-Journal asked the State to provide it with a log "identifying, for each e-mail, the sender, all recipients, the message date, and the legal basis upon which the State was denying access." *Id.* The State denied both requests. *Id.* Rather than providing

the Gazette-Journal with specific bases for withholding the requested emails, the State "summarily listed *DR Partners*, California caselaw, a Nevada Attorney General Opinion, and the State of Nevada Policy on Defining Information Transmitted via E-mail as a Public Record." *Id*.

The Gazette-Journal then filed a petition for a writ of mandamus with the district court to obtain the requested records. *Id.*, 127 Nev. at 877, 266 P.3d at 625. Following a hearing on the petition, the district court denied the Gazette-Journal's request for a log or index of the requested records. *Id.*, 127 Nev. at 877, 266 P.3d at 626.

In reversing the district court and holding that the State should have provided the Gazette-Journal with a privilege log, this Court emphasized that the NPRA "place[s] an unmistakable emphasis on disclosure," "and that its interpreting jurisprudence places an "[e]qually unmistakable" emphasis on adversarial testing. *Id.*, 127 Nev. at 882, 266 P.3d at 629. "In sum," the Court concluded, "a claim that records are confidential can only be tested in a fair and adversarial manner, and in order to truly proceed in such a fashion, a log typically must be provided to the requesting party." *Id*.

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